

TECHNICAL REPORT

Using GIS as a potential methodology to assess the spillover (indirect) effects of IFAD's interventions

Authors

Athur Mabiso ¹, Eleonora Patacchini ², Sara Savastano ¹, Valerio Leone Sciabolazza ³

- ¹ IFAD
- ² Cornell University
- ³ Sapienza University of Rome







The opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of IFAD concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The designations "developed" and "developing" countries are intended for statistical convenience and do not necessarily express a judgement about the stage reached in the development process by a particular country or area. This publication or any part thereof may be reproduced without prior permission from IFAD, provided that the publication or extract therefrom reproduced is attributed to IFAD and the title of this publication is stated in any publication and that a copy thereof is sent to IFAD.

Authors

Athur Mabiso ¹, Eleonora Patacchini ², Sara Savastano ¹, Valerio Leone Sciabolazza ³ ¹ IFAD, ² Cornell University, ³ Sapienza University of Rome

© IFAD 2022

All rights reserved.

Using GIS as a potential methodology to assess the spillover (indirect) effects of IFAD's interventions

Research and Impact – Technical Report



Contents

Acknowledgements6
About the Authors
Background9
Why use GIS methods?9
The design of empirical analysis using GIS methods in relation to IFAD projects
Application of GIS impact assessment to IFAD projects
Case study 1: Mali 12
Figure 1: Number of treated individuals in each Commune
Figure 2: Average per capita income of treated individuals vs national per capita GDP
Figure 3: Household location of treated individuals in the village of Niantanso
Figure 4: Location of treated and control villages
Data construction15
Figure 5: Definition of treatment and control areas
Figure 6: Average number of conflicts registered every month in Mali from 2014 to 2020
Figure 7: Average (monthly) growth rate of GDMP in treated and control areas
Empirical Analysis
Figure 8: Effect of a 1% increase of GDMP on conflicts in the considered area
Case study 2: Ethiopia 19

Figure 9: Number of treated individuals in each Woreda19	9
Figure 10: Average per capita income of treated individuals vs)
Figure 11: Household location of treated and control individuals in the village of Aleko2	1
Figure 12: Location of treated kebeles22	1
Data construction21	1
Figure 13: Definition of treatment and control areas22	2
Figure 14: Average number of conflicts registered every month in Ethiopia from 2014 to 202023	3
Figure 15: Average (monthly) growth rate of GDMP in rings23	3
Empirical Analysis23	3
Figure 16: Effect of a 1% increase of GDMP on conflicts in the considered area (ring)24	1
Conclusions28	5
References27	7

Acknowledgements

This report is part of the research activities linked to the IFAD11 Impact Assessments conducted by IFAD. The authors are grateful for the support provided by the country teams and project managements units of the RUFIP II and PMR projects in Ethiopia and Mali, respectively. The authors also thank the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) and Initiative pour le Développement de l'Afrique (IDA) for collaboration on data collection, as part of the impact assessment of the PMR project in Mali. Thanks are also accorded to Frontieri (The Former BDS Center for Development Research) that collected the primary data for the RUFIP II impact assessment in Ethiopia. Last but not least, the authors thank Barbara Pastorini for the excellent design and editorial support. This study has been funded by the International Fund for Agricultural Development, under the auspices of its Development Effectiveness Framework.

About the Authors

Athur Mabiso is a senior technical specialist (economist) at the Research and Impact Division (RIA), IFAD. He works on impact assessments of IFAD-supported projects and conducts research on a variety of topics in development economics. Mabiso has extensive research experience in the areas of agricultural policy, rural investments, food security, health and nutrition. Prior to joining IFAD in 2018, Mabiso worked at the International Food Policy Research Institute, conducting research and engaging with policymakers and development partners in several developing countries in Africa and Asia. He holds a PhD in agricultural economics from Michigan State University, a master's in food and resource economics from the University of Florida and a bachelor's degree with honors in agriculture, from the University of Zimbabwe.

Eleonora Patacchini is the Stephen and Barbara Friedman Professor of International Political Economy at Cornell University. She specializes in applied economics and applied statistics. Her recent research focuses on the empirical analysis of behavioral models of strategic interactions for decision-making. She is the editor of the Journal of Economic Geography. Her work has been profiled in Bloomberg, PBS Newshour, The Independent, The Economist, and The New York Times, among others.

Sara Savastano is the Director of IFAD's Research and Impact Assessment Division. Starting in 2016, Savastano worked at the World Bank as Senior Economist with the Development Economic Research Group. From 2008 to 2016 she was an Assistant Professor of Economics and Finance at the University of Rome Tor Vergata. Prior to this she was an economist at the Public Investment Evaluation Unit of the Italian Ministry of Economy and Finance. She is the Member at large of the International Consortium on Applied Bioeconomy Research. She has worked as a consultant with FAO, the World Bank, IFPRI, and other public and private institutions. Savastano holds a PhD in economics from the University of Rome Tor Vergata.

Valerio Leone Sciabolazza is assistant professor at Sapienza University of Rome. Valerio is an applied economist who investigates how geography and social/economic linkages shape agents' decisions. Using a network perspective, he examines the structure of social and spatial relations, and assesses the impacts of these relations on economic outcomes. He conducts research in different lines of work, mainly political economy and development economics. He published on different topics including the spillover effects of conflicts on economic growth and migration behavior. He also worked as a consultant for several international agencies, such as IFAD, FAO, and the World Bank.

Background

During IFAD11 replenishment period (2019-2021), a total of 104 projects completed implementation across the world. Each IFAD-financed project consisted of various interventions designed to achieve IFAD's Strategic Goal and Objectives (SOs): i.e., economic mobility (goal), productive capacities (SO1), beneficial market access (SO2), resilience to climate change (SO3). The standard impact assessment approach followed by IFAD to determine the benefits produced by project interventions on the strategic goal and objectives has been to use ex post impact assessment data derived from Face-to-Face (F2F) interviews. These interviews are conducted with the beneficiary households (treatment group) as well as comparison households (control group). The interviews are conducted after the interventions have taken place (ex post), within a time window that differs from project to project, since each project's start (and completion) of implementation is different. The information collected from the household surveys for the impact assessments (IAs) is self-reported and based on the households' retrospective recollection.

In 2020, the standard approach of conducting F2F interviews for the IAs had to be halted as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, IFAD explored alternative approaches to continuing its impact assessments. This report documents the extent to which GIS methods and secondary data can be used as a complementary set of tools to conduct the impact assessments of IFAD during the period when F2F interviews were not possible to implement.

Why use GIS methods?

The use of GIS is widespread in the economic and statistical analyses literature. GIS data are obtained from multiple open-source databases containing, for example, satellite data, remotely sensed data, digital terrain models, and it is often employed to map socio-economic data with a spatial component. They provide new data complementing official statistics when the latter are poorly measured or considered unreliable, and generate additional spatial inputs to statistical and econometric analyses.

GIS methods can be used to obtain socio-economic indicators, living standards measures, land resources and environmental data, and vegetation indexes, among others. As a result, GIS methods may be employed to estimate economic growth, the spread of economic activities, the quality of political institutions, the accessibility to (or remoteness of) specific areas, the geographical distribution of agricultural practices, the development of infrastructure networks, environmental policies, and conflicts.¹ Moreover, GIS has been also used to design credible counterfactual data to rigorously assess the impact of interventions.²

Finally, GIS methods represent a valuable complement to the information usually collected through ex-post F2F interviews. In fact, GIS methods can generate longitudinal or panel data (as well as time series data), which provide a reliable measure of the conditions of the treated areas before and after an intervention took place. On the contrary, when using ex post F2F interviews, a change in the condition of the beneficiaries of an intervention can only be assessed through the recall data collected, which can introduce sources of bias in the analyses.

The design of empirical analysis using GIS methods in relation to IFAD projects

A prerequisite for using GIS methods in household-level impact assessments is that one first of all needs geo-referenced data at the level of the household. This information is needed for both the beneficiary (treated) households and comparison (control) households. However, this information is only available for a small number of IFAD's projects and in some cases only for the beneficiary households. Moreover, one should dedicate a large effort to produce reliable measures at the household level for every outcome of interest for IFAD.

A solution to this problem is to change the unit of observation of the study, shifting from household to community-level analyses. The location of the communities where targeted households reside can be easily obtained from the M&E database of IFAD as well as from the impact assessments data (for those sampled for a baseline or mid-line household survey). These geolocation data can then be linked to various remote sensing databases enabling access to a variety of relevant variables that can be retrieved using satellite data. When the analysis is performed using aggregated information at the community-level, a number of proxies must thus be constructed to observe the outcome of an intervention. For instance, this can be done by registering improvements in the socio-economic conditions of targeted communities, such as changes in population travel time, improvements in observable infrastructure such as roads and buildings (settlements), growth of agricultural assets, and changes in land productivity, etc.

¹ See Chen et al. (2013), Henderson et al. (2012), Hodler and Raschky (2014), Donaldson and Hornbeck (2016), Michalopoulos and Papayoannu (2016), Rogall (2021), and Yanagizawa-Drott (2014), among others.

² Relevant contributions in this strand of research are Banerjee et al. (2020), Dinkelman (2011), Duflo and Pande (2007), Faber (2014), Michaels (2008), Michaelopoulos and Papayoannu (2013), Nunn (2008), and Qian (2008).

Application of GIS impact assessment to IFAD projects

In this report, we provide an example of how GIS methods can be applied to assess the impact of IFAD's intervention by using two case studies: Ethiopia and Mali. In both countries, IFAD implemented projects focused on improving rural households' access to a range of financial services, in order to improve their agricultural productivity and incomes.

Since interventions in these countries were conducted to improve the agricultural productivity and production of an area, we use GIS methods to register changes in land production and shifts in the system of cultivation using satellite and remotely sensed data (previous applications of this approach are presented by Costinot et al., 2016, Dell et al. 2014, Hsiang and Kopp 2018). Specifically, we use the satellite data provided by the Copernicus Global Land Service (European Union's Earth observation programme) about Gross Dry Matter Productivity (GDMP). GDMP registers the overall growth rate of the vegetation of an area and is directly related to the productive capacity of a land and changes in aggregate yields. Data is registered every 10 days at a spatial grid-resolution of around 300x300m,³ with units customized for agro-statistical purposes.⁴

GDMP data are used to observe whether and how IFAD's interventions, by improving the welfare of a community (i.e., increasing aggregate yields), have an impact on treated communities in terms of outcomes related but not equal to IFAD's main goals. In particular, we investigate how improvements in treated areas modify the opportunity cost of joining a civil conflict and affect the presence and the intensity of conflicts.⁵

Data on conflict events are drawn from the PRIO/Uppsala Armed Conflict and Location Event (ACLED) dataset. This data source provides information about exact location, in terms of latitude and longitude (GPS coordinates), date, and additional characteristics of a wide range of conflict-related events. Civil conflict episodes are defined broadly, to include all kinds of activity. Event data are derived from a variety of sources, mainly concentrating on reports from war zones, humanitarian agencies, and research publications. The use of these data is long consolidated in the literature on conflicts (see for instance Bertoni et al. 2019, Di Maio and Tushar, 2013, Harari and La Ferrara 2018).

³ Additional information about how GDMP is constructed and used are provided by "Copernicus Global Land Operations", at the link (last accessed: 07/01/2022):

https://land.copernicus.eu/global/sites/cgls.vito.be/files/products/CGLOPS1_PUM_DMP300m-V1.1_I1.10.pdf.

⁴ Specifically, GDMP unit is kilograms of gross dry matter per hectare per day (kg/ha/day).

⁵ There is a large consensus on the nexus between variation in soil productivity and the rise of civil conflicts. For a recent discussion, see Berman et al. (2021).

Case study 1: Mali

The IFAD-financed Rural Microfinance Programme (PMR) is a project that was implemented in Mali between 2010 and 2018, providing support to primarily women and youth savings and loans groups. The interventions of PMR mostly involved providing financial literacy training through the savings and loans groups and providing individual loans to group members, for rural income generating activities, most of which were invested in agricultural enterprises. We use GPS coordinates from a household survey of 1,814 households conducted as part of the IFAD impact assessment of PMR. We focus on the GPS coordinates of both the beneficiary and comparison households. For the beneficiary households the data comprise geolocations of 1,207 beneficiary households with 6,425 individuals (the treatment group). These treated individuals are identified as living in 72 villages, located in 48 Communes (geographic administrative level 3) in rural areas of Koulikoro, Segou and Sikasso regions. The specific number of treated individuals sampled for each Commune is presented in Figure 1. In the map, darker hues of color are associated to Communes with a higher number of treated individuals in the impact assessment sample, while the white color is used to indicate Communes where no individuals were involved in the project intervention (control).





It is worth noting that, except for one case, the average per capita income of treated individuals in all Communes is below the average per capita GDP of Mali during the period in which intervention took place (2010-2018).6 This is to be expected since IFAD deliberately targets the poor and often ultra-poor and vulnerable in its rural development projects. This is shown in Figure 2, where light colored Communes indicate the presence of individuals with incomes below the national per capita GDP, and dark colored Communes registers the presence of individuals with incomes are not part of the beneficiary (treated) sample.

Figure 2: Average per capita income of treated individuals vs national per capita GDP



From the F2F interviews conducted as part of IFAD's impact assessment of PMR, we obtain the exact geolocation, in terms of latitude and longitude, of treated individuals. An instance of this data is reported in Figure 3, where each dot indicates the location of the household of the individuals treated in the village Niantanso. To comply with personal data and privacy protection guidelines, we do not reveal the village boundary nor the scale and geographic direction in Figure 3.

⁶ The information about the income of treated individuals was obtained from the household survey interviews conducted as part of IFAD's impact assessment of PMR.





A key feature of our data is that we have both treated and control individuals, with the latter leaving in villages different from those where the former resides. Consequently, we can work at the aggregate level by comparing villages of treated individuals with villages of control individuals.

In Figure 4, we show the exact location of treated and control villages.⁷



Figure 4: Location of treated and control villages

Treatment

⁷ The number of control villages is 49.

Data construction

We have no information about the exact boundaries of villages. However, we know the location of interviewed individuals (treatment and control). Therefore, we identify the centroid of the location of individuals residing in the same village, and we assume this to be the center of the village. We then draw a ring of 5 km radius around this point, and we consider this area our unit of analysis. The length of the radius is kept relatively large in order to account also for potential spillover effects around villages. An instance of how rings for treatment and control villages are created is provided in Figure 5.





In the area covered by the rings surrounding treated and control communities, we compute two metrics for all months going from June 2014 to December 2020:⁸ i) the number of conflicts occurred at month t; ii) the average GDMP of the area in the 6 months before t.

Once seen as a democratic leader, Mali has become an epicenter of regional conflict and instability over the past decade. To get a sense of the on-going conflict events in Mali over the time span considered, we report the average number of conflicts registered in this country every month in Figure 6. A recent discussion on the current conflict in Mali is presented by Nomikos (2020, 2022).

Moreover, in Figure 7 we plot the average growth rate of GDMP in the Communes where treated and control villages are located. Interestingly, very small changes in GDMP are observed in these areas: i.e., the monthly average growth rate is in between -1 and 1%.

⁸ We expect that treatment effects arising from the program implementation did not have an immediate impact in the area. For this reason, we focus on a time span beginning few years after the program started.



Figure 6: Average number of conflicts registered every month in Mali from 2014 to 2020





Empirical Analysis

We estimate the effect of an increase of GDMP in the area surrounding a village on the number of conflicts registered in the same area. To be more specific, in our model specification the dependent variable is the number of conflicts per kilometer squared in the area surrounding village *i*, at month *t*, and the regressor of interest is the average

value of GDMP registered in the same area in the six months before *t*. We estimate our model using a Poisson regression (Wooldridge, 1999), which allows us to correctly account for the fact that the dependent variable, i.e., the number of conflicts, is a discrete variable, and its value can be zero in many cases (i.e., conflicts are rare events). We augment our model specification using village, month, and year fixed effects. Errors are then clustered at the village, and month-year level. The results obtained from our estimates are summarized in Figure 8.



Figure 8: Effect of a 1% increase of GDMP on conflicts in the considered area



In the figure, the dots report the estimated coefficient (point estimate) associated with an increase of 1% of GDMP on the number conflicts per kilometer squared in treated and control areas, respectively. Dark lines indicate the confidence interval of a standard deviation associated with each estimated coefficient.

A number of interesting facts emerge from this figure. In the control areas, a 1% increase of GDMP in the previous six months, corresponds to an average increase by approximately 8% in the number of conflicts per kilometer squared during the month under analysis. Importantly, this effect of GDMP on conflicts is significantly different from zero (i.e., the value zero on the x-axis is not included in the confidence interval of the estimated effect). This result suggests that an improvement of land productivity in the control areas provides an incentive to engage in conflictual activities: i.e., the number of conflicts increases. This is consistent with the fact that small changes have been registered in the land productivity of these areas, and control individuals likely have limited opportunities to improve their welfare through agricultural activities. Hence, when GDMP increases, this may activate a fight for the new resources, and the number of conflicts rise in these areas.

In the treatment areas instead, we do not find any statistically significant correlation between an increase in GDMP and the number of conflicts. The average effect of a 1% increase of GDMP in the previous six months on the number of conflicts is not statistically different from zero (i.e., the value zero on the x-axis is included in the confidence interval of the estimated effect): i.e., the number of conflicts does not arise, on average. This is an important finding suggesting that when improvements in land productivity is managed by IFAD, the opportunity cost to engage in conflictual activities significantly decreases, and there are less chances to observe a fight for resources.

Case study 2: Ethiopia

The IFAD-financed Rural Financial Intermediation Programme II (RUFIP II) in Ethiopia, was implemented from 2012 to 2020 and entailed supporting rural financial institutions, namely Rural Savings and Credit Cooperatives (RuSACCO), unions and Microfinancial institutions (MFIs). The project was implemented as a follow-on to the original RUFIP project implemented between 2003 and 2010. RUFIP II involved strengthening the capacity of micro-financial institutions (financial services providers) and facilitating access to loans (incremental credit) for rural households for investment in income generating activities in the target communities. As part of the endline monitoring and evaluation efforts, the project conducted F2F interviews and managed to collect data from 1,559 households distributed across five regions of Ethiopia, namely Amhara, Benishangul-Gumuz, Oromia, Southern Nations Nationalities and Peoples (SNPP), and Tigray. Among the sampled households were 780 beneficiary households with 3,790 treated individuals living in 49 kebeles (villages), located in 29 Woredas (geographic administrative level 3). The specific number of treated individuals in the sample for each commune is presented in Figure 9. In the map, darker hues of color are associated to Woredas with a higher number of treated individuals, while the white color is used to indicate Woredas where no individuals were involved in the intervention.



Figure 9: Number of treated individuals in each Woreda

Notably, the average per capita income of treated individuals sampled in many Woredas is below the average per capita GDP of Ethiopia during the period in which intervention took place (2012-2020).⁹ This is shown in Figure 10, where light colored Woredas indicates the presence of individuals with income below the national per capita GDP, and dark colored Woredas registers the presence of individuals with income above the national per capita GDP.

From the interviews conducted as part of the endline survey, we obtained the exact geolocation, in terms of latitude and longitude, of treated and control households. An instance of this data is reported in Figure 11, where each dot indicates the location of a household with the control and treated individuals in the kebele of Aleko. Again, to comply with personal data and privacy protection guidelines, we do not reveal the boundary of the kebele nor the scale and geographic direction in Figure 11.



Figure 10: Average per capita income of treated individuals vs national per capita GDP

A notable difference exists between data collected for the impact assessment in Mali, and that collected in Ethiopia. In the former case, control and treated individuals are located in different villages whereas in the latter case, control and treated individuals live in the same kebeles. The location of the kebeles, where treated and control individuals live, is reported in Figure 12.

⁹ The information about the income of treated individuals was obtained from the interviews conducted by IFAD.



Figure 11: Household location of treated and control individuals in the village of Aleko

Figure 12: Location of treated kebeles



Data construction

We do not have information about the exact boundaries of the kebeles. Moreover, there are no kebeles which can be used as control areas. Therefore, we need to slightly modify the approach adopted in the previous case study (i.e., Mali).

When treatment is located at a specific point in space and a control unit is not available, a standard method of evaluating the effects of the treatment is to compare units that are close to treatment to those slightly further away (see e.g., Billings 2011; Currie et al 2015; Gibbons et al. 2005; Marcus 2021), since these are likely to share the same characteristics (and thus they are comparable). Following this approach, we define treated areas as the ring (5km radius) around the centroid of each village, and we refer to these areas as to *internal rings*. We then define control areas as the ring (5km radius) surrounding the internal ring. We refer to these areas as to *external rings*. An instance of how internal and external rings are created is provided in Figure 13.

Figure 13: Definition of treatment and control areas



In the area covered by the (internal and external) rings, we compute two metrics for all months going from June 2014 to December 2020:¹⁰ i) the number of conflicts occurred at month t; ii) the average GDMP of the area in the 6 months before *t*.

We provide an overview of the current conflictual activities registered in Ethiopia over the time period considered in Figure 14, where we report the average number of conflicts registered in this country every month. A recent discussion about the conflict situation in Ethiopia is provided by the Institute for Peace and Security Studies (2020).

In addition, in Figure 15 we plot the average growth rate of GDMP in the Woredas where rings are located. The growth rate is always positive. Interestingly, significant improvements in GDMP are observed in many of these areas: i.e., the monthly average growth rate is larger than 5%. This is in contrast to the limited changes observed in the preceding case study of Mali.

¹⁰ We expect that treatment effects arising from the program implementation did not have an immediate impact in the area. For this reason, we focus on a time span beginning few years after the program started.



Figure 14: Average number of conflicts registered every month in Ethiopia from 2014 to 2020

Figure 15: Average (monthly) growth rate of GDMP in rings



Empirical Analysis

We estimate the effect of a 1% increase of GDMP in a ring on the number of conflicts registered in the same ring. To this purpose, we use the same exact model specification adopted to investigate the data in Mali: the dependent variable is the number of conflicts per kilometer squared in the ring *i*, at month *t*, and the regressor of interest is the average value of GDMP registered in the same ring in the six months before *t*. We enrich our model specification using ring, month, and year fixed effects.

Also in this case, we estimate our model using a Poisson functional form, clustering errors at the ring, and month-year level. The results obtained from our estimates are summarized in Figure 16.

Important findings emerge from the observation of this Figure. In the control areas (i.e., the external rings), we do not find any statistically significant correlation between an increase of GDMP and the number of conflicts. The effect of a 1% increase of GDMP in the previous six months on the number of conflicts is not statistically different from zero: i.e., the number of conflicts is unaltered. This should not be surprising. With respect to Mali, where we observe small changes in GDMP, in Ethiopia we register relatively larger improvements in land productivity during the period under analysis. Therefore, an improvement in GDMP is less likely to activate a fight for new resources in these areas, and the number of conflicts does not change.



Figure 16: Effect of a 1% increase of GDMP on conflicts in the considered area (ring)

Note: Points indicate the estimated coefficients from a Probit fixed effects model for rare events studies (Wooldridge, 1999). Lines indicate the confidence interval of a standard deviation. Model specification includes ring, month and year fixed effects. Errors are clustered at the ring, and month-year level.

In the treatment areas (i.e., the internal rings), a 1% increase of GDMP in the previous six months, corresponds to an average decrease by approximately 3% in the number of conflicts per kilometer squared during the month under analysis. Hence, with respect to the program implemented in Mali, IFAD intervention in Ethiopia had a significant impact on the number of conflicts in the treated area.

Taken together, these results suggest that when we observe relatively large improvements in land productivity on average (which is the case for Ethiopia, and not for Mali), and there are smaller incentives to engage in conflictual activities in consequence of a GDMP increase, the opportunity cost to engage in conflictual activities becomes negative in the presence of the IFAD-financed project: i.e., individuals have a disincentive to participate in conflict in order to improve their economic conditions.

Conclusions

In this report, we show how GIS methods and secondary data can be used as a complementary set of tools to conduct impact assessments of IFAD-financed projects. To this purpose, we use two case studies, i.e., the IFAD projects focused on rural financial interventions in Mali and Ethiopia.

In our analysis, we study how an improvement in the welfare of a community increases in terms of aggregate land productivity, i.e., the scope of the interventions conducted by IFAD projects in these countries, is linked to the presence of conflicts in the area, an outcome related but not equal to IFAD's main goals.

In order to conduct our investigation, we used the geo-localized data of treated households to identify the areas of intervention where IFAD-financed projects were implemented. We then collect satellite data to register changes in land productivity in these areas, and combine those data with data on conflicts. Different spatial methods are adopted to identify control units to be used as a credible counterfactual to perform our GIS impact assessments.

Important findings arise from our investigation. First, we observe from the evidence obtained from Mali that when there are small chances to improve one's own welfare, as suggested by a small growth rate in land productivity, an improvement in aggregate land productivity is followed by a fight for resources: i.e., conflict increases. Importantly however, we observe that in areas where IFAD projects are present, an improvement in land productivity is not followed by a fight for resources. In other words, IFAD projects appear to be generating a buffering effect, which prevents conflicts from emerging.

Complementing this finding, we observe from the evidence obtained from Ethiopia that when land resources increase at relatively larger magnitudes, and the opportunity cost of joining conflictual activities is thus smaller, the presence of IFAD project interventions is equally important. In such cases, an improvement in land productivity is followed by a decrease in the number of conflicts, suggesting that treated household (and as a result individuals) have a disincentive to participate in conflict. This could be termed a reduction effect, as conflict events are actually reduced.

The results presented in this report, however, are not to be interpreted as an exhaustive assessment of IFAD's interventions in Mali and Ethiopia. The main aim of this report is to showcase how GIS methods can be used to complement IFAD impact assessment activities.

It is important also to stress that a number of additional analyses can be implemented with GIS methods, depending on the scope of the project under analysis. For instance, when the intervention is meant to facilitate access to an area by creating a new infrastructure such as roads, one can use GIS pathfinding methods using digital terrain models to determine the change in travel time caused by the intervention and determine the improvement in the market access of a population (see for an application Burgess et al. 2015 and Faber 2014). In other cases, when the intervention is implemented to improve crop production during the dry season, e.g. through irrigation of an area, one can use Normalized difference vegetation indexes (NDVI) to register changes in green vegetation and obtain a reliable measure of the benefits to the population living in the targeted area (this is for instance studied in Bustos et al. 2016, Dell et al. 2014, Hsiang and Kopp 2018).

Moreover, the integration of GIS data with spatial statistics techniques can also allow to estimate the spillover effects of IFAD's programs on surrounding areas. That is, it can be possible to assess the effect of the program on areas that did not directly receive the project interventions. The calculation of such an externality is paramount for the design of inclusive policy interventions that do no harm. A given target impact can be indeed achieved by treating a different number of units depending on the magnitude of the spillover effect, the so-called spatial or social multiplier (Arduini, Patacchini and Rainone, 2019).

In conclusion, the combination of IFAD GPS location data collected during impact assessment surveys and satellite data offer a valuable contribution to complement and further corroborate IFAD assessment results.

References

Arduini, T., Patacchini E. and Rainone E. (2019), <u>Treatment Effects with Heterogeneous</u> <u>Externalities</u>, Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, 38, 826-838.

Banerjee, Abhijit, Esther Duflo, and Nancy Qian (2020), On the road: Access to transportation infrastructure and economic growth in China. Journal of Development Economics: 102442.

Berman N., M. Couttenier and Soubeyran R. (2021), Fertile Ground for Conflict, Journal of the European Economic Association, 19(1), 82-127.

Bertoni, E., Di Maio M., Molini V., and Nistico R. (2019), Education is forbidden: The effect of the Boko Haram conflict on education in North-East Nigeria, Journal of Development Economics, 141: 102249.

Billings, S. B. (2011) Estimating the value of a new transit option, Regional Science and Urban Economics 41 (6): 525–536.

Burgess, R., Jedwab, R., Miguel, E., Morjaria, A., & Padró i Miquel, G. (2015). The value of democracy: evidence from road building in Kenya. American Economic Review, 105(6), 1817-51.

Bustos, P., B. Caprettini and J. Ponticelli (2016), Agricultural Productivity and Structural Transformation: Evidence from Brazil, American Economic Review 106, 1320–1365.

Chen Y., Jin G.Z., Kumar N. and Shi G. (2013), The promise of Beijing: Evaluating the impact of the 2008 Olympic Games on air quality, Journal of Environmental Economics and Management, 66, 3, 424-443.

Costinot, A., D. Donaldson and C. Smith (2016), Evolving Comparative Advantage and the Impact of Climate Change in Agricultural Markets: Evidence from 1.7 Million Fields around the World, Journal of Political Economy 124, 205–248.

Currie, J., L. Davis, M. Greenstone, and R. Walker (2015), Environmental Health Risks and Housing Values: Evidence from 1,600 Toxic Plant Openings and Closings, American Economic Review 105 (2): 678–709.

Di Maio, M., and Tushar N. (2013), The effect of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict on child labour and school attendance in the West Bank, Journal of Development Economics, 100: 107-116

Dinkelman T. (2011) The effects of rural electrification on employment: New evidence from South Africa, American Economic Review, 101, 7, 3078-3108.

Dell, M., B. F. Jones and B. A. Olken (2014), What Do We Learn from the Weather? the NewClimate-Economy Literature, Journal of Economic Literature, 52, 740–798

Donaldson D. and Hornbeck R. (2016) Railroads and American economic growth: A "market access" approach, The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 131, 2, 799-858.

Duflo E. and Pande R. (2007) Dams, The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 122, 2, 601-646.

Faber, B. (2014). Trade integration, market size, and industrialization: evidence from China's National Trunk Highway System. Review of Economic Studies, 81(3), 1046-1070.

Gibbons, S. and S. Machin (2005) Valuing rail access using transport innovations, Journal of Urban Economics 57 (1): 148–169.

Harari, M., and La Ferrara, E. (2018). Conflict, climate, and cells: a disaggregated analysis. Review of Economics and Statistics, 100(4), 594-608.

Henderson J.V., Storeygard A. and Weil D.N. (2012) Measuring economic growth from outer space, American Economic Review, 102, 2, 994-1028.

Hodler R. and Raschky P.A. (2014) Regional favoritism, The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 129, 2, 995-1033.

Hsiang, S., & Kopp, R. E. (2018). An economist's guide to climate change science. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 32(4), 3-32.

Institute for Peace and Security Studies (2020), Ethiopia: Conflict Insight, Peace and Security Report, vol. 1. Available at <u>https://media.africaportal.org/documents/Ethiopia-Conflict-Insights-Vol-1-3042020.pdf</u>. Last accessed: 07/01/2022.

Marcus, M. (2021), Going Beneath the Surface: Petroleum Pollution, Regulation, and Health, American Economic Journal: Applied Economics 13 (1): 72–104.

Michaels G. (2008) The Effect of Trade on the Demand for Skill - Evidence from the Interstate Highway System, Review of Economics and Statistics, 90, 683-701.

Michalopoulos S. and Papaioannou E. (2013) National institutions and subnational development in Africa, The Quarterly journal of economics, 129, 1, 151-213.

Michalopoulos S. and Papaioannou E. (2016) The long-run effects of the scramble for Africa, American Economic Review, 106, 7, 1802-1848.

Nomikos W. G. (2020), Mali country report, EU-LISTCO. Available at <u>https://www.eu-listco.net/publications/mali-country-report.</u> Last accessed 07/01/2022.

Nomikos W. G. (2022). Peacekeeping and the enforcement of intergroup cooperation: Evidence from Mali. The Journal of Politics, 48, 1, 194-208.

Nunn N. (2008). The Long-term Effects of Africa's Slave Trades. The Quarterly Journal of Economics. 123 (1), 139–176

Qian N. (2008) Missing women and the price of tea in China: The effect of sex-specific earnings on sex imbalance, The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 123, 3, 1251-1285.

Rogall T. (2021) Mobilizing the masses for genocide, American Economic Review, 111(1), 41-72

Wooldridge, J. M. (1999) Distribution-Free Estimation of Some Nonlinear Panel Data Models. Journal of Econometrics, 90, 77–97.

Yanagizawa-Drott D. (2014) Propaganda and conflict: Evidence from the Rwandan genocide, The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 129, 4, 1



International Fund for Agricultural Development Via Paolo di Dono, 44 – 00142 Rome, Italy Tel: +39 06 54591 – Fax: +39 06 5043463 Email: ifad@ifad.org www.ifad.org